Technical Report Documentation Page

1. Report No. FHWA/TX-04/0-1752-10	2. Government Accession	on No.	3. Recipient's Catalog N		
4. Title and Subtitle ADVANCED TRANSPORTATIO (ATMS) EVALUATION—USER I	N MANAGEMEN' NTERFACE	T SYSTEM	5. Report Dat e October 2003		
			6. Performing Organiza	tion Code	
7. Author(s) Hassan A. Charara, Robert E. Brydi	a, and Kevin N. B	alke	8. Performing Organiza Report 0-1752-1	tion Report No.	
9. Performing Organization Name and Address Texas Transportation Institute			10. Work Unit No. (TRA	AIS)	
The Texas A&M University System College Station, Texas 77843-3135	1		11. Contract or Grant No Project No. 0-17	^{5.} 52	
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and Address Texas Department of Transportation	 1		13. Type of Report and Period Covered Letter Report:		
Research and Technology Implement	ntation Office		September 2001	– August 2003	
Austin, Texas 78763-5080			14. Sponsoring Agency	Lode	
15. Supplementary Notes Project performed in cooperation wi Administration. Project Title: TransLink [®] Research	th the Texas Depar Program	rtment of Transpor	tation and the Fede	eral Highway	
16. Abstract					
The Advanced Transportation Mana Transportation (TxDOT) is a critical acceptance often depends on how ea controlled by the user interface. The	agement System (A I tool in transportat asy or useful the so is report details an	TMS) developed b ion management co ftware is to use. T evaluation of the T	y the Texas Depart enters (TMCs) acro his interaction is ty action and acrossing the second s	tment of oss Texas. User pically duct.	
In general, the ATMS client screens conform well to accepted design principles for user interfaces. While slight problems were identified at a number of locations, the overall user interface is excellent and provide an operator with the ability to quickly enter information and examine the status of the roadway and field devices.					
In comparison, the ATMS data entry screens were not as polished and suffer from a number of common user interface problems that lead to confusion. This confusion could lead to incorrect data entry and incorrect configuration of the ATMS product.					
17. Key Words Advanced Transportation Manageme	ent System	18. Distribution Statemer	t This document is a	vailable to the	
ATMS, User Interface		public through N National Technic Springfield, Virgi	TIS: al Information Ser nia 22161	vice	
19. Security Classif.(of this report)	20. Security Classif.(of th	nttp://www.ntis.g	OV 21. No. of Pages	22. Price	
Unclassified	Unclassified	1-0-)	26		

ADVANCED TRANSPORTATION MANAGEMENT SYSTEM (ATMS) EVALUATION-USER INTERFACE

by

Hassan A. Charara Associate Research Scientist Texas Transportation Institute

and

Robert E. Brydia. Associate Research Scientist Texas Transportation Institute Kevin N. Balke, Ph.D., P.E. TransLink[®] Center Director Texas Transportation Institute

Report 0-1752-10 Project Number 0-1752 Project Title: TransLink[®] Research Program

Performed in cooperation with the Texas Department of Transportation and the Federal Highway Administration

October 2003

TEXAS TRANSPORTATION INSTITUTE The Texas A&M University System College Station, Texas 77843-3135

DISCLAIMER

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the data presented herein. The contents do not necessarily reflect the official view or policies of the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) or the Texas Department of Transportation (TxDOT). This report does not constitute a standard, specification, or regulation. The engineer in charge was Kevin N. Balke, P.E. (Texas, #66529).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This project was conducted as part of the TransLink[®] research program and was performed in corporation with the Texas Department of Transportation and the Federal Highway Administration. The project team recognizes the following TransLink[®] partners for their generous support of the TransLink[®] research program:

- U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration;
- Texas Department of Transportation;
- Metropolitan Transit Authority of Harris County;
- Texas Transportation Institute; and
- Rockwell International.

The project team would also like to recognize the following individuals for their support of this specific project:

- David Gibson, Federal Highway Administration;
- Mark Olson, Federal Highway Administration;
- Al Kosik, Traffic Operations Division, Texas Department of Transportation;
- Richard Reeves, Traffic Operations Division, Texas Department of Transportation;
- Sally Wegmann, Houston District, Texas Department of Transportation;
- Terry Sams, Dallas District, Texas Department of Transportation;
- Wallace Ewell, Fort Worth District, Texas Department of Transportation; and
- Pat Irwin, San Antonio District, Texas Department of Transportation

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION
EVALUATION CRITERIA
Visibility1
Feedback
Mappings2
Cues and Affordances
Minimize User Memory Load
Consistency
Clearly Marked Exits
Good Error Messages
Shortcuts
Help and Documentation
ATMS UI EVALUATION
ATMS Client Subsystem Evaluation
ATMS Client v.2 Main Screen
Consistency
Mappings and Cues
Help and Documentation
New Incident, New Maintenance, and New Road Closure Report Screens
Lists of Incidents, Maintenance, and Road Closure Reports
System Configuration Screen
Level of Service and Lane Control Signal Screens
LCU Maintenance, SCU Maintenance, and Monitor Detectors Screens
ATMS Data Entry Screens
Poor Mappings
Too Much Information Per Screen
No Visible Sequence of Data Entry on Screens
Error Messages
CONCLUSIONS
REFERENCES

LIST OF FIGURES

Page

Figure 1. ATMS Client's Edit Menu.	. 5
Figure 2. ATMS Client Main Screen.	. 6
Figure 3. First Screen of the New Incident Report.	. 7
Figure 4. Second Screen of the New Incident Report	. 7
Figure 5. New Maintenance Report.	. 8
Figure 6. New Road Cbsure Report.	. 8
Figure 7. List of Incidents.	. 9
Figure 8. List of Maintenance Reports.	. 9
Figure 9. List of Road Closure Reports.	. 9
Figure 10. ATMS Client Configuration Screen.	10
Figure 11. LCS Observation and Management Screen.	11
Figure 12. LCS Control Screen.	12
Figure 13. Level of Service Display.	12
Figure 14. LCU Maintenance Screen.	13
Figure 15. SCU Maintenance Screen.	13
Figure 16. Monitor Detectors Screen.	14
Figure 17. ATMS Data Entry Sample Error Message.	15
Figure 18. ATMS Data Entry Sample Error Message.	15
Figure 19. ATMS Data Entry Sample Error Message.	15

ADVANCED TRANSPORTATION MANAGEMENT SYSTEM (ATMS) EVALUATION—USER INTERFACE

INTRODUCTION

The Advanced Transportation Management System (ATMS) developed by the Texas Department of Transportation (TxDOT) is a critical tool in transportation management centers (TMCs) across Texas. Acceptance of a software system often depends on the perception of the ease of use and legibility and an understanding of the user interface (UI) provided with the system. Additionally, on the average nearly 50 percent of software system's code is devoted to the UI (1).

User interface design falls under the Human Computer Interaction (HCI) specialty in Computer Science. HCI emphasizes the importance of good user interfaces and the relationship between good interface design and effective human interaction with computers. UI design is an art as well as an engineering and science discipline. The UI design and development involves an understanding of human thought and cognition, graphical screen layout and design, and creativity in designing metaphors and mappings between system functionality and the tasks and goals the user is trying to accomplish by using the software system.

This letter report presents the results of the UI evaluation of the ATMS product.

EVALUATION CRITERIA

In evaluating the ATMS UI, a set of criteria that is widely agreed upon and accepted in the HCI literature was adopted (2,3,4). The criteria selected includes but is not limited to:

- visibility,
- feedback,
- mappings,
- cues and affordances,
- minimize user memory load,
- consistency,
- clearly marked exits,
- good error messages,
- shortcuts, and
- help and documentation.

Visibility

Visibility of a UI is determined by how easily and directly a user can see what can be done and how to do it using the software system's UI. The functionality provided by a UI should be very visible and clearly match the user tasks in as natural a way as possible. The mapping between the system's functionality and the user's tasks should be almost one to one. The provision of fewer controls to achieve the user's tasks results in a user interface that is complex and hard to navigate. On the other hand providing more than one way to accomplish the same task often ends up confusing the user. The ideal UI presents the user with only the right amount of information required to accomplish the task at hand.

User interfaces can be made more clear and visible by implementing proper graphical screen design and layout principles and techniques. For example, enclosing related data items within a frame, using bolder color or typeface to highlight objects, and presenting certain information first using the usual reading direction from left to right and from top to bottom in the English language are all techniques that can help the UI to prioritize the user's attention to certain information and consequently makes the path to follow in performing certain tasks more visible. Information must be presented to the user in a sequence that enables them to achieve their tasks and goals most effectively and productively.

Feedback

Feedback is a measure of how easily and quickly a system provides the user with information about the results of their actions and the system's state. A software system should continuously and promptly inform the user about its state and how it is interpreting actions in terms that are understood by the user, rather than in terms of the underlying system. Feedback becomes especially important in cases where a system has a long response time for certain operations. Instead of leaving the user guessing what the system is doing and whether it has crashed or is still operational, percent-done progress indicators are useful in such situations and assure the user that the system has not crashed. As a rule of thumb, percent-done progress indicators should be used to provide feedback to users for operations taking more than 10 seconds (2). In general, graphical progress-done indicators are preferred to text messages stating the expected remaining time.

Feedback can be loosely divided into four classes that include:

- Context information which user is logged on currently;
- System's current state is the system ready or not, or the current system mode;
- Conversation response confirmation of closing, documents saved, or other important system tasks; and
- Immediate response reaction from a button depression or some other expected action.

Mappings

Mappings describe the correspondence between the user's conceptual model of a system, i.e., the goals and tasks they would like to achieve by using the system, and the functionality and information provided by the system to accomplish these tasks. Designing good mappings is usually a very difficult task and requires a great deal of work on the part of the system designer to analyze user tasks and build an understanding of users and their domain.

Unfortunately, system designers often have a tendency to design systems with functionality that reflects the internal behavior or architecture of the system instead of needs of the users to which the system is catering. The main reasons for this are due to a lack of user interface skills on the system designers' part and/or a lack of interaction and input from the intended users of the system during the design and development phases of the system. Mappings will usually be poor if there are fewer controls in the UI than tasks the user is trying to achieve. Good mappings can contribute a great deal toward improving the visibility of a UI.

Cues and Affordances

A well-designed UI employs controls and components that utilize the user's existing experience and knowledge. A user's background provides hints about the way that items in the UI should be used. As an example, knowledge common to most UIs is that buttons perform actions when pressed and drop-down lists provide a number of available options.

Minimize User Memory Load

Research has shown that on average, a human being's short-term memory can hold up to six to eight items (2). This research shows that typically, people are not very good at *remembering* things. However, people are very good at *recognizing* things when presented with a list of items or options to choose from.

On the other hand, computers excel at remembering things. Therefore, UIs should always try to display dialog elements for users to select from or edit instead of asking users to enter the information from scratch. Menus, drop-down lists, checkboxes, and radio buttons are typical technologies used to achieve this goal. It is also much easier for the user to modify information displayed by the computer than to have to generate all of the desired result from scratch.

For example, whenever a user wants to rename an object or file, most likely they want the new name to be very similar to the existing one. So, it makes sense to display the existing name in the edit field where the user is renaming the object and allow them to edit it rather than retyping the name from scratch and trying to remember it. Also, when users are asked to enter some input according to a specific format, the system should describe the required format and, if possible, provide an example of valid input like entering dates, phone numbers, etc.

Consistency

Consistency is very important when designing easy to use UIs. Consistency specifies that the same commands or actions always have the same effect. Also, the same information should be presented in the same location on all screens and dialog boxes, and it should always be formatted in the same way to facilitate recognition and avoid confusing the user.

Clearly Marked Exits

All dialog boxes and system states should have an Exit button, a Cancel button, or other escape facility to bring the user back to a previous state. Examples of escape facilities also include the Undo facility that allows users to return to a previous system state. It is important to make escape facilities very visible and accessible within the UI. The presence of escape facilities in a

UI encourages users to explore the system without being afraid of affecting the system irrevocably.

Good Error Messages

Error messages should be phrased in clear terms that a user can understand. Error messages should avoid obscure codes, be precise rather than vague and general, and be polite and not intimidate the user or assign blame. Error messages are most constructive when they help the user solve the problem they are facing. Multiple levels of messages may also be useful. A brief description can be given for the error with a button that the user can click for a more detailed message about the error.

Obviously, a UI designer should attempt to prevent errors from happening in the first place. However, when errors do occur, well-constructed error messages can provide a great deal of information to help solve the immediate problem.

Shortcuts

Shortcuts are very good tools to provide the user with quick access to repetitive tasks, especially expert users that have used the system for a while. Typical shortcuts and accelerators include abbreviations, function keys, toolbars, and command keys. Examples of shortcuts also include most recent opened files and most used commands on menus.

Help and Documentation

It has been stated that "When simple things need labels or instructions, the design has failed" (1). However, most software systems have enough features and functionality to warrant a paper manual or on-line help. On-line help is preferable for several reasons. Research has shown that on-line help systems have the potential to provide users with more precise and quick answers to their questions than paper manuals. This can be achieved through the use of index and overview maps, search and lookup capabilities, hyper-links, and context-sensitive help. Another important aspect of help systems, manual or on-line, is that technical writing rules should be utilized to ensure the readability of help documents.

ATMS UI EVALUATION

In evaluating the ATMS UI, the researchers applied the criteria listed in the previous section to the screens that comprise each ATMS subsystem installed at TransLink, namely the ATMS Client and the ATMS Data Entry subsystems. The overall results of the evaluation process revealed that the ATMS Client subsystem screens are very well designed and met almost all the evaluation criteria, while the screens that make up the ATMS Data Entry subsystem need to be simplified and require a few modifications to meet the evaluation criteria. The following sections provide the results of evaluating both subsystems.

ATMS Client Subsystem Evaluation

ATMS Client v.2 Main Screen

The ATMS Client software main screen met all the evaluation criteria except for minor problems in the Consistency, Mappings, and Help and Documentation criteria. The main screen provides the user with good feedback as to whether the Client is ready or not, the status of keyboard keys like NUMLOCK, and hints about the functionality of each icon when the user moves the mouse over the icons. It also provides the user with clearly marked exits to quit the application through the File/Exit menu, provides shortcuts to repetitive tasks through the toolbar icons, and finally uses cues and affordances to indicate very easily the functionality of some of the toolbar icons.

Consistency: The ATMS client software main screen provides two methods to access the new incident, new maintenance, new road closure, freeway lane control signal (LCS) plans, and the system configuration functions. The first method is through the Edit menu (Figure 1), while the second method of access is through a toolbar (Figure 2). The order of the functions listed in the Edit menu from top to bottom is not consistent with the order of the same options on the toolbar. In UI design it is highly recommended that same functionality or information be presented to users in the same order and in the same place if it is repeated on different screens.

Mappings and Cues: Some of the icons used on the toolbar are very intuitive like the level of service (LOS) icon, the camera icon, and the LCS icon. The functionality of these icons can be immediately recognized by users either because of the imagery that is being used with the icon like the camera icon, the text used on the icon like the level of service display, or both imagery and text used with the icon like the lane control signal icon. On the other hand, some of the other icons such as the incident report, list of incidents, maintenance report, maintenance list, road closure report, and the road closure list are not as obvious. Text and imagery can be used to make the functionality associated with these icons more easily recognized.

Help and Documentation: The ATMS system has a paper manual that provides users with basic help in terms of installing the system, describing the general system architecture, and guiding the user through the system functionality and screens data entry. The ATMS system provides no on-line help.

Al	MS v.2 Austin on TRFDE	٧	×
File	Edit Control View Help		
POR NELA	New Incident Report New Maintenance Report New Road Closure	LIST NEW LIST 8	
	Freeway LCS Plans System Configuration		

Figure 1. ATMS Client's Edit Menu.



Figure 2. ATMS Client Main Screen.

New Incident, New Maintenance, and New Road Closure Report Screens

The new incident (Figures 3 and 4), maintenance (Figure 5), and road closure (Figure 6) report screens conform very closely to the UI evaluation criteria. Graphical screen design principles and techniques like blocking related data items within a frame, as well as colored hints and labels, are used effectively to highlight important data items and guide the user through the logical data entry sequence of elements presented on the screens.

The usage of UI controls and techniques contributes to a great extent toward preventing users from committing errors. Items such as drop-down lists, checkboxes, radio buttons, and disabling certain components and screen pages until other data entry conditions are met reduces the burden on the user's short-term memory. It puts the burden on the application, which can easily store and retrieve all of the various options.

The screens also provide users with helpful and useful error messages when they try to bypass the data entry sequence, clearly marked exits on each page through a Cancel button, and good textual and graphical feedback when the user selects certain options on the LCS control page in the new incident report.

The overall design of the new incident, maintenance, and road closure report screens is very visible, clear, and friendly.

aadway S 0183 Nonhbound Coation Before Block Block Detector Station Latitude Longitude Engraphic Location Latitude Longitude Engraphic Location Latitude Longitude Engraphic Location Latitude Engraphic Location Latitude Engraphic Location Latitude Engraphic Location Engraphic L	AEQUIRED FIELDS in BLUE	Incident Type Collision Abromal Congestion Overturn Stall Abandomment Abandomment Abandomment Vehicle on Fire Road Debis Ha2MAT Spill Public Emergency Incident Source C Decored Reported Incident Status FALSE ALARIM VERIFIED C DECARED	Notify BIT Survey Forcement Survey Force Frethological Coercises Kentological Coercises Kentological Coercises Kentological Coercises Autor frethological Coercises Autor fretholo
		Comments	

Figure 3. First Screen of the New Incident Report.

Surface Condition Dy Surface Dy Surface Dy Muddy C Wet C Icy Muddy C Wet C Icy Muddy C No defects Holes/nuts in surface Foreign material on surface High water or flood debris Distruction in road (right) Distruction in road (deb)	Light Conditions C Daylight C Dawn C Derkness - no street lights C Darkness - street lights C Dark Weather Conditions C Clear/Cloudy C Raining C Snowing C Fog	Injuries Confirmed Fatality Vehicles Involved I 2 I 2 Passenger cor Truck Other Collisions: Toble Vehicle (in transport) House trailer Parked Vehicle Farm tractor IRIt train Road machinery Pedestruan
Narrow bridge/over/underpass Noad under construction Road under repair	C Blowing dust C Smake C Steeling	Bus Bicycle/other School bus Animal Motocycle Fixed object Emergency vehicle Other object
Detection Courteny Patrol Caw Enforcement Fleet Operators CETV Automated Detection Other Public Agencies Citizen Maritenance Other	Verification Courtesy Patrol Law Enforcement CCTV Dither Public Agencies Maintenance	

Figure 4. Second Screen of the New Incident Report.

		OK
Dev	ice ID:	
Device Location	Reported 1 times	Cancel
Roadway	ID Location	
Location		
Block	ID Location	
roblem:		an and a state of the second sec
Status	Assigned To:	
Status • New Date: 04/17/2002	Assigned To:	
Status Status New Date: 04/17/2002 Assigned Date:	Assigned To:	
Status New Date: 04/17/2002 Assigned Date: 0 Verified Date: 0	Assigned To:	ļ
Status	Assigned To:	

Figure 5. New Maintenance Report.

w Road Closure Report			and a second
Roadway (US 0183 Northbound Beginning at Cross Street	Current Status © New © Pending © Active © Complete	Period of Closure Begin: 04/17/2002	OK Cancel
Block	Lane: Closed Freeway Frontage All Lanes Lanes Entrance Ramp Exit Ramp Interchange Connector Detour	Daily Closure Hours Begin: 15:43 End: 15:43 Days Closed Sunday Monday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday	
Exit Ramp	Responsibility TxDDT Construction TxDDT Maintenance O Other		- I way

Figure 6. New Road Closure Report.

Lists of Incidents, Maintenance, and Road Closure Reports

The current incidents (Figure 7), current maintenance (Figure 8), and current road closure (Figure 9) report screens provide the user with the status of reports currently in the system. The screens representing these lists take advantage of color to give the user a quick cue about the status of each report in the list. Another useful feature provided in the lists is the ability of the user to double-click on a report in the list to view and edit the contents of the report. Such convenient features reduce the users' memory load by not requiring them to remember which report is needed and then enter the information somewhere else to view the contents. All the list screens provide the user with clearly marked exits except the list of incidents screen.

ocation	Block	Incident	Туре	Time	Duration	Status	Notified	Operator	Incident R
Southbound at TexSIM-Simulation-I		7		4/15 7	56 hr., 47 min.	Detected 13 times			Ignore Inc
Southbound at TexSIM-Simulation-		6		4/15 7	56 hr., 47 min.	Detected 11 times			
Southbound at TexSIM-Simulation-I		5	The l	4/15 7	' 56 hr., 47 min.	Detected 6 times			AL TON
Southbound at TexSIM-Simulation-		4		4/15 7	' 56 hr., 47 mìn.	Detected 5 times			
Southbound at TexSIM-Simulation-		3		4/15 7	' 56 hr., 47 min.	Detected 6 times			
Southbound at TexSIM-Simulation-		2	리산동	4/15 7	' 56 hr., 47 min.	Detected Stimes			
3 Northbound at Loop 360	9700	1	Collision	4/3 16	17855 hr., 23 m	Verified	1	FWEISSE	

Figure 7. List of Incidents.

ocation	Block	Flepost #	Device Type	# Times	Date	Status	Assigned to	
WY6 at TTI Real LCU		40114	LCU	3	11/21/2001	New		
HWY6 at TTI Virtual LCU		35113	LCS	11	11/19/2001	New		
HWY6 at TTI Real LCU		30113	LCU	36	11/1/2001	New		13/22
HWY6 at TTI Vintual LCU		30112	LCU	7783	11/1/2001	Haw		
HWY'6 at Virtual LCU		25113	LCU	4	11/17/2000	New		
HWY6 at Virtual LCU		25112	LCU	9	11/17/2000	New		
HWY6 at Virtual LCU		25111	LCU	578	11/17/2000	New		100
HWY6 at HWY6-Cabinet		25110	LCU	32	11/3/2000	New		
HWY6 at HWY6-Cabinet		20110	LCU	385	9/18/2000	New	8	Sand Sand
HWY6 at HWY6-Cabinet		201.09	LCU	29	9/18/2000	News		5 8
TTI		15108	scu	4	8/17/2000	New		12.0
US 0183 at HWY6		15107	LCU	23	8/16/2000	New		
		15106	LCU	13	8/16/2000	NBW.		And a lot of
US 0183 at HWY6		15105	LCU	28	8/16/2000	New		-



Road Closures							2
Location	Block(s)	Lane(s)	Closure #	Status	Start Date	End Date	
183 Northbound at Loop 360	9700	Freeway Lanes	7.	New	2/17/2000	2/17/2000	Law a
3							Edit Closure
				-			Close

Figure 9. List of Road Closure Reports.

System Configuration Screen

The system configuration screen (Figure 10) enables the user to view and edit general system settings. The screen highlights related settings and information by enclosing them within a frame. Checkboxes, radio buttons, and drop-down lists are provided whenever applicable to get user input. Finally, a clearly marked Cancel button is provided to allow the user to revert to previous settings without saving the changes made.

System Configuration	
System Description: ATMS v.2 Austin on TRFDEV	ΠΚ
Data Base Version: ATMS 2.0 DB7	Cancel
Network Settings System Server Name: Javelin System Comm Port Number: DIGI 1 Baud Rate: 9600 Map Channel Number: 1 System Pin Number: 1234 Green State Code: 3 RESET Yellow State Code: 1 ACKNBWLEDGE Blue State Code: 4 Blue State Code: 5 RESTORE	Incident Management Options Enable Incident Detection Enable Weekend Incident Detection T. D. Daily Enable Time 18 D. Daily Disable Time Agencies in Incident Notification List Sense 4 Fire Department 5 Courtesy Patrol 6 Maintenance 7 Traffic Signal Operations 8 HAR/TIS 9 Traffic Signal Operations 8 HAR/TIS 9 Traffic Signal Operations 8 HAR/TIS 9 Traffic Signal Operations 8 HAR/TIS 9 Traffic Signal Operations 9 HAR/TIS 9 Traffic Signal Operations 1 PiD 11 12
Miscellaneous Detector Data Directory d:\temp\ATMSdata DMS Application Name	Map Application Name C:\Program Files\WQuic\Wquic.exe Live Video Application Name
Enable Automatic Maintenance Reports	Location Label Block Number Mile Marker

Figure 10. ATMS Client Configuration Screen.

Level of Service and Lane Control Signal Screens

The LOS and LCS screens (Figures 11 through 13) use graphics and text to provide real-time feedback to users. The LOS screen effectively conveys information about the level of service at selected locations, while the LCS screen effectively details that status of lane control signals at a particular location.

Color is used to provide the user with cues about the current LOS at a freeway location by using red for congested and green for free-flow. The cues use the existing knowledge of users as to how these colors are used in other areas of traffic and correlate it to the LOS on a freeway. The red X and green arrow symbols are also used in the same way on the LCS screens to provide LCS status.

On both screens, graphical feedback is also augmented with real-time textual feedback, especially on the LOS screens, to give the user up to the minute real-time updates on traffic conditions at a selected site. The screens also provide users with clearly marked exits and lists of known sites to the system for the user to select from instead of requiring them to remember all the possible sites and enter the site information from memory.



Figure 11. LCS Observation and Management Screen.

LCS Plan D	ata Entry									×
Roadway Pian	IH 0035 Northbound		Sec. North		WARNI the sele aware t	NG: T cted re hat righ	his is onl adway it lane(s)	ly a schematic representation o Please consider distances bet may not be continuous betwee	r the LCS heads installed along ween LCS stations. Also, be an displayed LCS heads.	
Selected	Location	Direction	1	2	urrent Statu 3 4	is 5	6	Traffic Flow Direction	Plan 1 2 3 4 5	6
1814	18th Street (not responding)	Northbound	?	?	??					
I 1113	11th Street [not responding]	Northbound	?	?	?					
7906	AUS Shop (not responding)	Northbound	?	?	??]?	?	jejej	TITIT	
	Barbler !	A State of the second sec	TAN	Les a	12-17-5-18				All Blank All Green All Re	ed
	New Plan	opy Plan	Ren	ame F	Plan		Delete P	lan Save Plan	Cancel	
A STATE OF	the second second second		1. A.	267		1	A STATE		A REAL PROPERTY AND A REAL	

Figure 12. LCS Control Screen.

Level of Service Display						X
Select Roadway						
HWY6 Southbound						
	Volume	Speed	Occup	pancy (%)		0 10 20 30 40 50 60 Traffic
Detector Station	1 Minute	👻 (mph)	Actual ,	/ Threshold	A-F	- Inabadanta danta danta danta Flow
TexSIM-Simulation-Upstream-L1	26	3	38	20	F	
TexSIM-Simulation-Upstream-L2	25	5	39	20	F	
TexSIM-Simulation-Upstream-L3	24	5	37	20	F	
TexSIM-Simulation-Downstr-L1	25	5	37	20	F	
TexSIM-Simulation-Downstr-L2	24	5	39	20	F	
TexSIM-Simulation-Downstr-L3	27	1 174	54	20	F	
A HERE AND AND AND AND						
						The state of the state and
				r -	7	
			A BAR	Close	A THE MENT	
	and the second	A LA PART IN		and the second second	5.00	

Figure 13. Level of Service Display.

LCU Maintenance, SCU Maintenance, and Monitor Detectors Screens

The LCU maintenance, SCU maintenance, and monitor detectors screens (Figures 14 through 16) provide the user with utilities to communicate, monitor, and control field equipment. The user interface provides effective feedback including timely and helpful messages about the success or failure of actions it performed on behalf of the user. The screens minimize the possibility of errors and lessen the burden on user's memory by using drop-down lists to provide users with lists of existing field equipment to select from. The three screens also provide very clearly marked exits.

LCU Maintenance			×
SCU:			
Enabled LCU's 1 TTI Real LCU (channel 5, address 1) 2 TTI Virtual LCU (channel 7, address 1)	Disabled LCU's	
Disable		Enable	
Download Code	Download Database	Reset	
Diag	nose ALL Cancel		

Figure 14. LCU Maintenance Screen.

SCU Maintenance	×
SCU: TTI	
Download SCU I	Database
Download Detect	or Profiles
Restart SCU	Clear SCU's Operations File Clear SCU's Database File
Logoff SCU	Logon SCU Cancel

Figure 15. SCU Maintenance Screen.

Monitor Detectors First,	Select SCU	S 1 TTI Real LC	econd, Select LCU CU (channel 5, address 1)	
Monitor Trap Detect Det 8's A B LN ST 1 2 1 1500 3 4 2 1500 5 6 3 1500 7 8 1 1600 9 10 2 1600 11 12 3 1600	Volume Occ A B A 20 6 6 9, 21 7 8 44 22 8 8 49 30 12 12 5 30 12 12 5 31 0 0 0 32 10 10 69	A Errors B A C 4 65 0 C 3 54 0 C 3 54 0 C 1 63 0 C 3 54 0 C 0 0 C C 3 54 0 C 3 54 0 C	Avg. Speed B [ft.}scc.] I 0 5 0 12 0 6 0 7 0 0 5 0 5 12 0 5 0 5 0 5 0 5 0 5 0 5 0 5 0 5	Avg. Track Classified Length Count Count 8 0 6 17 2 8 8 0 8 6 0 12 0 0 0 7 0 10
Monitor Non-Trap De Det #s Lan	tectors ie Station	Ramp	Volume	Occupancy Error

Figure 16. Monitor Detectors Screen.

ATMS Data Entry Screens

The screens that comprise the ATMS Data Entry subsystem suffer from four common problems, as detailed below.

Poor Mappings

As described earlier, good mappings refer to the intuitiveness of the correspondence between the system's functionality and the user's tasks. The smaller the gap between these two views, the more efficient and productive the user would be in using the system to accomplish the required tasks. The functionality and screens provided by the ATMS Data Entry subsystem reflect more closely the system's internal architecture, i.e., the various database tables the system uses to store the system data, rather than the tasks the users want to accomplish, like entering and defining trap detectors or lane control signals.

Too Much Information Per Screen

The majority of the ATMS data entry subsystem screens provide the user with more information per screen than necessary. This has the effect of overwhelming the user, especially, novices. In addition, most of the screens provide the user with a number of actions that are available at the same time, which adds to the confusion. Although some of these actions can be disabled by default, their presence contributes to the information overload on the data entry screens.

No Visible Sequence of Data Entry on Screens

As mentioned in the previous section, most of the ATMS data entry screens provide the user access to a number of actions at the same time. This usually confuses users, especially novice users. Graphical screen design techniques can be used to highlight a data entry sequence to the user based on the functionality provided by the screen.

Error Messages

The error messages provided by the ATMS Data Entry screens are not very helpful or useful. They reflect more of the internal system architecture, especially the database table design, than the task the user is trying to accomplish. Error messages should avoid obscure codes, be precise rather than vague, and be constructive in helping the user solve the problem he is facing. Some examples of error messages are shown in Figures 17 through 19. Again, the error messages here reflect more of the internal system architecture rather than the tasks the user is trying to accomplish.



Figure 17. ATMS Data Entry Sample Error Message.



Figure 18. ATMS Data Entry Sample Error Message.



Figure 19. ATMS Data Entry Sample Error Message.

CONCLUSIONS

In general, the ATMS client screens conform well to accepted design principles for user interfaces. While slight problems were identified at a number of locations, the overall user interface is excellent and provides an operator with the ability to quickly enter information and examine the status of the roadway and field devices.

In comparison, the ATMS data entry screens were not as polished and suffer from a number of common user interface problems that lead to confusion. This confusion could lead to incorrect data entry and incorrect configuration of the ATMS product. It is recommended that the data entry screens undergo a thorough evaluation to examine the relationship of form and function, and how the user interface can be improved.

REFERENCES

- 1. Norman, Don. The Psychology of Everyday Things. Basic Books, New York, NY, 1988.
- 2. Nielson, Jakob. Usability Engineering. Academic Press, Boston, MA, 1993.
- 3. Mullet, Kevin, and Darrel Sano. *Designing Visual Interfaces: Communication Oriented Techniques*. SunSoft Press, Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1955.
- 4. Zetie, Carl. *Practical User Interface Design: Making GUIs Work*. McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York, NY, 1995.

. .